RECEIVED

Aug 30 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson
The Honorable William A. McKinnon

Appellate Case No. 2020-000407

Douglas Kelsey, Plaintiff,

v.

House of Blues Myrtle Beach Restaurant Corporation;
HOB Entertainment, Inc.; and Travis Scott Wagoner, Defendants.

AND

House of Blues Myrtle Beach Restaurant Corporation, Appellant,

v.

Throttlefest, LLC; American Outlaw Spirits Incorporated;
Full Throttle LLC; and Full Throttle Sloon Shine, LLC, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christian Stegmaier, Esquire
Amy L. Neuschafer, Esquire

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in dismissing Appellant's third-party claims against Respondent Throttlefest where the arguments raised required consideration of matter outside the Complaint?
- II. Whether the Circuit Court erred in dismissing Appellant's third-party claim for contribution against Respondent Throttlefest where (a) the Court improperly required Appellant to plead or present evidence that Respondents' settlement with the underlying Plaintiff was not in good faith and (b) the Court improperly relied upon *Smith v. Tiffany*¹ to support a finding that dismissal of the contribution cause of action would not impact Appellant's due process and equal protection rights.
- III. Whether the Circuit Court erred in dismissing Appellant's third-party claims against Respondent Throttlefest based upon the statute of limitations?
- IV. Whether the Circuit Court erred in dismissing Appellant's third-party tort claims based upon the existence of a contractual agreement between Appellant and Respondent Throttlefest?
- V. Whether the Circuit Court erred in dismissing Appellant's third-party claims against Respondents American Outlaw Spirits, Full Throttle, and Full Throttle Sloon Shine, based upon a lack of personal jurisdiction?

¹ 419 S.C. 548, 560-61, 799 S.E.2d 479, 486 (2017).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

First-Party Litigation

The first-party lawsuit was filed in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas on May 12, 2017, asserting various causes of action related to injuries Douglas Kelsey (“Kelsey”), the first-party plaintiff, sustained in a motorcycle-on-motorcycle collision on May 16, 2014 in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. (R. p. 69) Upon the filing of a First Amended Complaint on July 7, 2017, Appellant House of Blues Myrtle Beach Restaurant Corporation; American Outlaw Spirits Incorporated (“American Outlaw Spirits”), Full Throttle LLC (“Full Throttle”), and Full Throttle Sloon Shine, LLC (“Sloon Shine”); Throttlefest, LLC (“Throttlefest”); Travis Scott Wagoner (“Wagoner”); Michael “Fajita Mike” Garner (“Garner”), and others, were all named defendants. (R. p. 84). Kelsey alleged that Appellant and Respondents were liable for the over-service of alcohol to Wagoner during an event called “Throttlefest 2014.” See id.

On October 15, 2019, Kelsey filed a Second Amended Complaint, at which time only the House of Blues Defendants and Wagoner remained as defendants in the case. (R. p. 170)

Third-Party Litigation

On October 18, 2019, Appellant answered the Second Amended Complaint and asserted a Third-Party Complaint against Respondents Throttlefest, American Outlaw Spirits, Full Throttle, and Sloon Shine. (R. p. 189)

Throttlefest’s Motion to Dismiss

On December 5, 2019, Respondent Throttlefest filed an Answer and Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, followed by a Memorandum in Support of the Motion. (R. pp. 217-237 & p. 247) Appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Throttlefest’s Motion. (R. p. 354)

On January 8, 2020, a hearing on Throttlefest's Motion to Dismiss was held before The Honorable Benjamin Culbertson. (R. p. 603) Judge Culbertson orally granted the motion and entered a Form 4 Order providing the same and instructed counsel for Throttlefest to prepare a formal order. (R. p. 628, lines 6-16) (R. p. 57). Judge Culbertson entered a written order granting the motion to dismiss on February 4, 2020, and entered an identical order again on February 5, 2020. (R. p. 44) (R. p. 31)

On February 14, 2020, Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. (R. p. 442).

On March 4, 2020, Judge Culbertson entered a Form 4 Order denying the Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. p. 28)

Appellant filed the instant appeal from Judge Culbertson's Orders. Throttlefest filed a Motion to Dismiss the appeal, which this Court denied by Order entered on July 28, 2020. The Court consolidated the appeal from Judge Culbertson's Orders with the appeal from Judge McKinnon's Order, discussed *infra*.

American Outlaw Spirits, Full Throttle, and Sloon Shine's Motions to Dismiss

On December 17, 2019, Respondents American Outlaw Spirits, Full Throttle, and Sloon Shine, each filed a separate motion to dismiss the third-party claims, alleging, amongst other things, that the court lacked personal jurisdiction over each entity. (R. pp. 238-246). On January 3, 2020, each of the Respondents filed a corresponding Memorandum in Support of their Motion to Dismiss. (R. pp. 266-353) Appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the motions. (R. p. 372)

On February 5, 2020, a hearing on the Motions to Dismiss was held before The Honorable William A. McKinnon. (R. p. 573) Judge McKinnon heard argument from counsel for the parties and took the matter under advisement. (R. p. 600, line 24 – p. 601, line 1.)

On March 26, 2020, Judge McKinnon entered a written order granting the motion to dismiss. (R. p. 10).

On April 6, 2020, Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. (R. p. 474) American Outlaw Spirits, Full Throttle, and Sloon Shine filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Alter or Amend on April 17, 2020. (R. p. 494)

On July 23, 2020, Judge McKinnon held a hearing on the Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. p. 521) The matter was again taken under advisement. (R. p. 571, lines 2-3).

On July 31, 2020, Judge McKinnon entered an Order granting in part and denying in part the Motion to Alter or Amend and providing that the new Order be substituted in place of the Court's March 26, 2020 Order. (R. p. 1).

Appellant filed the instant appeal from Judge McKinnon's Order. The Court consolidated the appeal from Judge McKinnon's Orders with the appeal from Judge Culbertson's Order, discussed *supra*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 12(b)(2), SCRPC Lack of Personal Jurisdiction

The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case. State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co., 379 S.C. 81, 88, 666 S.E.2d 218, 221 (2008). “At the pretrial stage, the burden of proving personal jurisdiction over a nonresident is met by a *prima facie* showing of jurisdiction either in the complaint or in affidavits.” Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co., 363 S.C. 485, 491, 611 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2005). “When a nonresident defendant attacks the allegations of a complaint based on jurisdiction, the court is not confined to the allegations of the complaint but may resort to affidavits or other evidence to determine jurisdiction.” Power Prods. & Servs. Co. v. Kozma, 379 S.C. 423, 430, 665 S.E.2d 660, 664 (Ct. App. 2008). The circuit court’s decision should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law. Cribb v. Spatholt, 382 S.C. 490, 496, 676 S.E.2d 714, 717 (Ct. App. 2009).

Rule 12(b)(2), SCRPC Failure to State a Claim

“Dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is appealable.” Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 227, 233, 553 S.E.2d 496, 500 (Ct. App. 2001). Upon review of a dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the appellate court applies the same standard of review implemented by the trial court. Id. In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, this Court must consider whether the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief. See Gentry v. Yonce, 337 S.C. 1, 5, 522 S.E.2d 137, 139 (1999); see also Cowart v. Poore, 337 S.C. 359, 523 S.E.2d 182 (Ct. App. 1999) (explaining that looking at facts in light most favorable to plaintiff, and with all doubts resolved in his behalf, the court must consider whether the pleadings articulate any valid claim for relief).

The trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss will be sustained if the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief under any theory of law. Tatum v. Medical Univ. of South Carolina, 346 S.C. 194, 552 S.E.2d 18 (2001). The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The underlying first-party action arose from a motorcycle-on-motorcycle collision on May 16, 2014, in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina, which resulted in injuries to first-party plaintiff Kelsey. Kelsey alleged that Travis Wagoner was overserved with two free shots of liquor, allegedly given to him by Michael "Fajita Mike" Garner during an event at House of Blues called Full Throttle Saloon Festival, also known also as "Throttlefest 2014." (R. pp.86-87, ¶¶ 8-15); (R. pp. 204-206, ¶¶ 93, 107-109). There is a dispute over whether Garner was acting as an employee or agent of Appellant or Respondents and who was responsible for his training and supervision. Compare R. pp. 86-89, ¶¶8, 29, 40-42), with R. pp. 206-207, ¶¶ 114-117).

Respondents were previously defendants in the first-party action. The first-party claims against Throttlefest were dismissed following an apparent voluntary settlement agreement with Kelsey. (R. p. 63). Subsequently, the first-party claims were dismissed as to American Outlaw Spirits on January 22, 2018 and as to Full Throttle and Sloon Shine on August 13, 2019. (R. p. 68) (R. p. 60).

When Kelsey filed his Second Amended Complaint, Appellant filed an Answer and asserted the following causes of action against Respondents: breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, negligence, equitable indemnification, contractual indemnification, and contribution. (R. p. 189)

In the Third-Party Complaint, Appellant alleged that Appellant and Throttefest entered into a Co-Promotion Agreement (“Agreement”) with an effective date of March 19, 2014, concerning the functions and acts necessary for promoting and conducting the Throttle Fest event, to be held May 9-17, 2014 at the House of Blues location in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. (R. p. 204, ¶ 97); (R. p. 755). Michael Ballard and Jesse James Dupree are affiliated with Throttefest, LLC, as well as related entities Full Throttle, L.L.C., Full Throttle Sloon Shine, LLC, and American Outlaw Spirits Incorporated, on behalf of which the two men attended the Throttefest 2014 event. (R. p. 206, ¶¶ 112-113). Appellant avers that throughout the Throttefest event, Fajita Mike was acting as the employee or agent of Respondents. *Id.* ¶¶ 114-115. Further, Respondents all had the opportunity and responsibility to supervise and control Fajita Mike and financially benefited from Fajita Mike’s alleged actions. *Id.* at ¶ 116-117.

Throttefest Motion to Dismiss

Throttefest’s Motion to Dismiss and supporting Memorandum argued that Appellant’s third-party claims should be dismissed because “(1) a release was given in good faith by Plaintiff to Throttefest which extinguished all liability Throttefest may have to the Plaintiff, thereby discharging Throttefest from all liability to any other alleged tortfeasor, including House of Blues; (2) Throttefest and House of Blues’ relationship is governed solely by contract and, therefore, House of Blues’ causes of action sounding in tort and equity are barred by South Carolina law; and (3) House of Blues’ contract-based claims are barred by the statute of limitations.” (R. p. 235); (R. p. 247). These arguments were made at the motions hearing before Judge Culbertson on January 8, 2020. (R. p. 609, line 6 – p. 614, line 18; p. 625, line 10 – p. 628, line 5).

Appellant filed a detailed Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, the content of which it incorporated and summarized orally at the January 8, 2020 hearing. First and

foremost, Appellant argued that dismissal of the third-party claims against Throttlefest would require findings of fact not evident on the face of the third-party Complaint. Additionally, Appellant argued that Throttlefest's settlement with Kelsey did not warrant dismissal of the third-party claims where Throttlefest breached its own duties owed to Appellant, the settlement with Kelsey was not in good faith, and dismissal would violate Appellant's due process and equal protection rights. Appellant further argued that the existence of Appellant's breach of contract claim against Respondent did not preclude Appellant's additional causes of action based in equity and tort. Lastly, Appellant argued that its claims should not be dismissed based upon the statute of limitations. (R. p. 354; R. p. 614, line 24 – p. 615, line 8)

At the January 8, 2020 hearing, Judge Culbertson issued the following oral ruling:

All right. All right. If I could get you to prepare an order, I'll grant the motion to dismiss. As I understand it, as I look through this, the breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation and the negligence cause of action are barred by the statute of limitations. Likewise, the equitable indemnification, contractual indemnification and the contribution are barred by 15-38-50 since there is a release and they did get a settlement. Based upon those grounds, I'll grant your motion to dismiss. If you would prepare an order to that effect.

(R. p. 628, lines 6-16) This oral ruling was followed by a Form 4 Order and a formal written Order, identical copies of which were filed on February 4 and 5, 2020.² (R. p. 57; R. p. 44; R. p. 31)

The circuit court dismissed the third-party claim for contribution against Throttlefest, citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-50 and Smith v. Tiffany, 419 S.C. 548, 560-61, 799 S.E.2d 479, 486 (2017), based upon the Release entered between Kelsey and Throttlefest. (Order, Feb. 5, 2020,

² To the extent that Judge Culbertson's written Order is inconsistent with his oral ruling, the written order controls. See Parag v. Baby Boy Lovin, 333 S.C. 221, 226, 508 S.E.2d 590, 592 (Ct. App. 1998) ("To the extent the written order may conflict with the prior oral ruling, the written order controls."); First Union Nat. Bank of S.C. v. Hitman, Inc., 308 S.C. 421, 422, 418 S.E.2d 545, 545 (1992) (same).

pp. 5-7). The trial court dismissed the remaining causes of action for breach of contract, contractual indemnity, negligent misrepresentation, and negligence, based upon the statute of limitations, finding that the claims accrued in May 2014. (R. pp. 38-40). The court further found that Appellant's causes of action for negligent misrepresentation, negligence, and equitable indemnification were barred by the terms of the Co-Promotion Agreement. (R. pp. 41-42)

On February 14, 2020, Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCRCP. (R. p. 442). Appellant's motion argued that the trial court should amend its Order to correct the following errors and omissions:

1. The trial court failed to rule on Appellant's argument that Respondent's arguments were not proper for Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal because they required the Court to consider information outside of the Third-Party Complaint.
2. The trial court erred in finding that Appellant was required to plead that Respondent's settlement with Plaintiff was not in good faith or present evidence of the same in order for its contribution claim to survive.
3. The trial court erred in relying upon Smith v. Tiffany to find that Appellant's federal and state constitutional rights of due process and equal protection were protected after admitting that the case explicitly failed to consider such arguments.
4. The trial court erred in dismissing causes of action based upon the statute of limitations where the court failed to properly apply the discovery rule and failed to distinguish the accrual of the indemnification claim.
5. The trial court erred in finding that the existence of the Co-Promotional Agreement precluded alternative tort and equitable claims.
6. The trial court erred in failing to address why amendment of the pleadings was not the proper remedy for any alleged deficiency in the initial pleading.

Appellant's motion was decided on the written submissions alone and denied by a Form 4 Order entered on March 4, 2020. (R. p. 28).

American Outlaw Spirits, Full Throttle, and Sloon Shine’s Motion to Dismiss

American Outlaw Spirits, Full Throttle, and Sloon Shine’s Motions to Dismiss asserted a variety of arguments for dismissal, which were opposed in Appellant’s memorandum. See R. pp. 238-246; R. p. 372. These arguments were addressed again in Appellant’s motion to alter or amend and the hearing on the motion. (R. p. 474; R. p. 521)

In the circuit court’s amended order, the court ultimately resolved the matter solely on the claim of lack of personal jurisdiction. (R. p. 1) Specifically, the Court ruled:

The primary allegations at issue involve the actions Michael Garner. House of Blues acknowledges in its Answer that it issued Garner a W-2 for his work during the Event. Seeking to distance itself from Garner’s actions, House of Blues then says Garner was “part of the Throttlefest festival talent.” House of Blues admits that it and Throttlefest undertook the duties for promoting and conducting the Throttle Fest event and asserts that Throttlefest was responsible for “festival talent/personalities.” House of Blues nevertheless seeks to reach through the Throttlefest LLC to its two individual members and even further beyond that, tracing duties through those members to each of their other businesses. It seeks to hold responsible those non-resident, non-contracting parties with the duties of the contracting party, and to hold them responsible for acts or omissions in the performance of the contract. It seeks to hold a South Dakota real estate holding company, for example, responsible for the alleged actions of “festival talent” that another entity purportedly obtained—and whom House of Blues reported to the IRS was their employee.

In light of the materials submitted to address the lack of contacts of these Third-Party Defendants and other matters of record, House of Blues cannot establish that the three non-resident companies themselves had sufficient contacts to have purposefully availed themselves of the privilege of conducting activities within South Carolina. *See generally Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co.*, 363 S.C. 485, 492, 611 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2005) (“The foreseeability that is critical to due process analysis is not the mere likelihood that a product will find its way into the forum state. Rather, it is that the defendant’s conduct and connection with the forum state are such that he should reasonably anticipate being haled into court there.”); *Aviation Assocs. [and Consultants, Inc. v. Jet Time, Inc.]*, [303 S.C. 502, 507-08,] 402 S.E.2d [177,] 180 (nonresident seller’s limited

contact insufficient); *Power Prod. & Servs. Co. v. Kozma*, 379 S.C. 423, 433, 665 S.E.2d 660, 666 (Ct. App. 2008) (finding conclusory assertions unavailing). **The only contact that these entities could be argued to have made here was the requirement by ThrottleFest that House of Blues buy liquor from the Third-Party Defendants to serve at the ThrottleFest event. This singular contact, which was directed by ThrottleFest rather than the Third-Party Defendants themselves, is not enough to create jurisdiction. These Defendants did not conduct the requisite activity to have purposefully availed *themselves* of the laws of South Carolina. In other words, the actions of Throttlefest in South Carolina can subject itself to the jurisdiction to the courts of South Carolina, but not additional parties.**

Additionally, House of Blues alleges that Ballard and Dupree, in conducting their duties as the hosts of ThrottleFest, were also serving as agents of the Third-Party Defendants, by nature of their positions within those companies. House of Blues therefore argues that the contacts made by Ballard and Dupree should be imputed to the Third-Party Defendants. The Court disagrees. **House of Blues has not provided sufficient evidence that Dupree and Ballard were serving as agents for the Third-Party Defendants. Mere conclusory statements or allegations in pleadings concerning Dupree and Ballard serving as agents for these Third-Party Defendants are not enough to base the exercise of jurisdiction upon. As a result, the Court cannot exercise jurisdiction over these parties on this, or any other basis as alleged by House of Blues.**

Because the Court finds it lacks the “power” to hear this matter with regard to these Defendants, the Court need not address the “fairness” prong of personal jurisdiction.

The Court declines to address Third-Party Defendants’ other defenses and arguments, as the Court has found it does not have personal jurisdiction over these parties.

(R. pp. 5-7 (emphasis added)).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Erred in Dismissing Appellant's Third-Party Claims Against Respondent Throttlefest Where the Arguments Raised Required Consideration of Matter Outside the Complaint.

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