**RECEIVED**

**Jul 20 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge  
William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000407

Douglas Kelsey ..... Plaintiff

v.

House of Blues Myrtle Beach Restaurant Corporation; HOB  
Entertainment, Inc.; and Travis Scott Wagoner ..... Defendants

and

House of Blues Myrtle Beach Restaurant Corporation ..... Third-Party Plaintiff

v.

Throttlefest, LLC; American Outlaw Spirits Incorporated; Full  
Throttle, LLC; and Full Throttle Sloon Shine, LLC ..... Third-Party Defendants

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

*See Tiffany*, 419 S.C. at 556-57, 799 S.E.2d at 483-84. The *Tiffany* Court stated that the courts should not substitute their definition of "fairness" for legislature's:

Our decision is the result of determining and honoring legislative intent. We respectfully reject Appellants' invitation to adopt a result that comports with their sense of equity. We construe the statute in a manner to give effect to the policy decision made by the legislature. Is the policy decision advanced by Appellants, and adopted by the dissent, equitable and defensible? Absolutely. Could the legislature have drafted the statute to achieve the result desired by Appellants? Absolutely. But the policy decision belongs to the legislature, and the legislature has crafted the provisions of the Act as it sees fit. We are a court, not a legislative body. *That a court may disagree with a legislative body's policy decisions or believe a perceived "more fair" outcome exists is of no moment.*

*See id.*, 419 S.C. at 565, 799 S.E.2d at 488 (emphasis added). Although "one can easily imagine scenarios where the result may be inequitable," the Court "adhere[d] to the principle that a court must not reject the legislature's policy determinations merely because the court may prefer what it believes is a more equitable result." *See id.*, 419 S.C. at 559, 799 S.E.2d at 485. Likewise, the fact that House of Blues thinks its approach is "more fair" does not make the legislature's reasoned allocation of liability "arbitrary." Instead, the legislature did the best that it could in dealing with a complex problem with many tentacles.

As the trial court noted (consistent with the intent of the legislature), House of Blues does have a remedy to protect its interests. It can argue that Throttlefest "contributed to the alleged injury or damages." *See* S.C. Code § 15-38-15(D). Additionally, Plaintiff's Settlement with Respondent Throttlefest would reduce the claim against House of Blues "to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant, or in the amount of the consideration paid for it, whichever is the greater." *See* S.C. Code § 15-38-50(1). While House of Blues may disagree with its decision as a matter of fairness, the legislature enacted these statutes as the fairest way to allocate responsibility in difficult cases. House of Blues can make no showing that the legislature's chosen solutions are arbitrary. It cannot show that the legislature did not have a rational basis for its choices.

If anything, House of Blues' construction of the Contribution Among Tortfeasors' Act would be just as unfair to Throttlefest as the House of Blues believes the trial court was to it. House of Blues would treat Throttlefest different from other settling tortfeasors merely because it happened to formerly be an active defendant. Obviously, being named as a defendant in a complaint was entirely outside of Throttlefest's control. House of Blues would disregard the Supreme Court's holding in *Tiffany* and deny Throttlefest the certainty of its Settlement because Plaintiff named Throttlefest as a defendant in the Amended Complaint.

Moreover, far from being good policy, House of Blues' legal position would essentially prevent a plaintiff from ever settling with one of several defendants. This would run contrary to the specific language of the Contribution Among Tortfeasors' Act, which allows (if not encourages) Plaintiffs to settle claims as to one tortfeasor. In *any* case, after the Settlement, Plaintiff's claims against the settling Defendant tortfeasor (here Throttlefest) would necessarily be dismissed before trial (just as the trial court dismissed Plaintiff's claims against Throttlefest here). It would be difficult to imagine a scenario where a plaintiff could settle with one tortfeasor and extinguish all of that tortfeasor's potential liabilities. This will force defendants to reject settlement opportunities out of fear of remaining exposed to liability for contribution.

For all of the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the trial judge's dismissal of House of Blues' Third-Party Complaint against Respondent Throttlefest.

V. **The Trial Judge Correctly Granted Respondent Throttlefest's Motion to Dismiss Because Appellant House of Blues' Third-Party Claims are Time-Barred (Appellant's Issue (III)).**

The trial judge also granted Throttlefest's Motion to Dismiss because House of Blues' breach of contract, contractual indemnity, negligent misrepresentation and negligence claims are untimely-filed under the governing statutes of limitations:

The "Breach of Contract" cause of action alleges that Throttlefest breached the Agreement by: (1) failing to name House of Blues as an Additional Insured on the insurance policies Throttlefest was required to obtain under the Agreement (Third-Party Complaint ¶125); (2) failing to use due care in providing festival talent and personalities for the Event (Third-Party Complaint ¶126(a)); (3) engaging in

prohibited alcoholic beverage sponsorships during the Event (Third-Party Complaint ¶126(b)); and (4) failing to comply with state and local laws applicable to its activities during the Event (Third-Party Complaint ¶126(c)). The “Contractual Indemnification” cause of action is actually a breach of contract claim, as it alleges that Throttlefest is contractually required to indemnify and defend House of Blues against the allegations made in this case, but has failed to do so. . . . House of Blues either knew or should have known of at least some Throttlefest’s alleged breaches of the Agreement during the Event, especially the allegations that Throttlefest engaged in prohibited alcohol sponsorships during the Event, failed to fulfill its duties during the Event, and failed to name House of Blues as an Additional Insured on Throttlefest’s insurance policies. Since the Event occurred on House of Blues’ premises, it either knew or should have known in May 2014 that Throttlefest was engaging in prohibited alcohol sponsorships at the House of Blues in May 2014. Accordingly, House of Blues’ Breach of Contract cause of action, even if not fully developed accrued in May 2014.

(*See R. pp. 51-52*). The trial judge further correctly noted that Appellant's "Negligent Misrepresentation and Negligence Causes of Action, even if not fully developed, accrued in May 2014 and should have been filed within three years." (*See R. p. 52*).

In its brief, Appellant House of Blues argues that the trial court erred in considering matters outside of the Third-Party Complaint in determining that House of Blues' claims were time-barred. House of Blues further contends that its "Third-Party Complaint was timely filed on October 18, 2019, because House of Blues['] first notice of the underlying first party claim, which are what gave rise to the third-party claims, was a letter dated October 20, 2016, from Kelsey’s counsel sent certified mail to House of Blues." (*See Appellant's Br., at 22*). For the following reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of these claims as untimely.

Under South Carolina law, an action on a contract must be commenced within three years after the breach. *See S.C. Code § 15-3-530(1)*. Likewise, the statute of limitations for tort actions in South Carolina is three years. *See S.C. Code §15-3-530*. The South Carolina Supreme Court has “repeatedly held that a statute of limitations begins to run when the party either knew or should have known that some legal right had been invaded.” *See City of Newberry v. Newberry Elec. Co-op., Inc.*, 387 S.C. 254, 260, 692 S.E.2d 510, 513 (2010); *accord Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996) (“The statute runs from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises

from the wrongful conduct.”); *Johnston v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 61, 64, 437 S.E.2d 45, 47 (1993) (“[T]he injured party must act with some promptness where facts and circumstances of the injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his had been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist.”).

A statute of limitations begins to run when the cause of action accrues. *King v. James*, 388 S.C. 16, 26, 694 S.E.2d 35, 40 (Ct. App. 2010). “A cause of action accrues at the moment when the plaintiff has a legal right to sue on it. The law presumes at least nominal damages at that point. The fact that substantial damages did not occur until later is immaterial to determining when the action accrued or arose.” *Bergstrom v. Palmetto Health All.*, 358 S.C. 388, 397, 596 S.E.2d 42, 46 (2004) (quoting *Stephens v. Draffin*, 327 S.C. 1, 4–5, 488 S.E.2d 307, 309 (1997)). A cause of action accrues when defendant breaches a duty, even though substantial damages were not discovered or did not occur until later. *Grooms v. Med. Soc. of S.C.*, 298 S.C. 399, 402, 380 S.E.2d 855, 857 (Ct. App. 1989).

“Under the discovery rule, the statute does not run from the date of the negligent act, but from the date when the injury resulting from the wrongful conduct either is discovered or may be discovered by the exercise of reasonable diligence.” *McClain v. Jarrard*, 354 S.C. 218, 220, 580 S.E.2d 763, 764 (Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Wilson v. Shannon*, 299 S.C. 512, 513, 386 S.E.2d 257, 258 (Ct. App. 1989)). “According to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered.” *Bayle v. South Carolina Dep’t of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 123, 542 S.E.2d 736, 740 (Ct. App. 2001). “Pursuant to the discovery rule, a breach of contract action accrues not on the date of the breach, but rather on the date the aggrieved party either discovered the breach, or could or should have discovered the breach through the exercise of reasonable diligence.” *Kagan v. Simchon*, 429 S.C. 516, 527-28, 839 S.E.2d 106, 112 (Ct. App. 2020), *reh’g denied* (Mar. 30, 2020) (quoting *Maher v. Tietex Corp.*, 331 S.C. 371, 377, 500 S.E.2d 204, 207 (Ct. App. 1998)). “The date on which discovery should have been made is an objective, not subjective, question.” *See Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 526, 787 S.E.2d 485, 489 (2016); *Kreutner v. David*, 320 S.C. 283, 285,

465 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1995). "In other words, whether the particular plaintiff actually knew he had a claim is not the test." *Young v. South Carolina Dep't of Corr.*, 333 S.C. 714, 719, 511 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct. App. 1999).

It is undisputed that the Throttle Fest Event took place between May 9 and May 17, 2014. The incident giving rise to Plaintiff's lawsuit occurred on May 16-17, 2014. (*See R.* pp. 204 ¶¶93 & 97 and p. 206 ¶¶ 108-110). House of Blues alleges that Throttlefest breached several provisions of the parties' Agreement in connection with the Event:

98. Article 2 of the Agreement provides that Co-Promotor [Throttlefest LLC] is responsible to provide "[a]ll components of Full Throttle festival – including, but not limited to, all festival talent/personalities."

99. Article 2 of the Agreement further provides that alcoholic beverage sponsorships are "prohibited."

100. With respect to financial terms, article 3(a) provides that "Co-Promoter [Throttlefest LLC] shall under no circumstances have any financial interest or share in any Bar Profit," i.e. the revenue minus expenses from the sale of alcoholic beverages.

101. Article 5 of the Agreement contains provides for Throttlefest LLC 's indemnification of House of Blues against any act or omission of Throttlefest LLC or its employees, agents or contractors in connection with Throttlefest LLC's performance under the Agreement.

102. Article 6(b) of the Agreement contains an Additional Insures requires each party to the Agreement to list "the other party, its parents, partners, affiliates and subsidiaries, and their respective officers, directors and employees as 'Additional Insureds' with respect to claims arising from the liabilities assumed herein by the named insured."

(*See R.* pp. 204-05 ¶¶ 98-102). Appellant House of Blues further alleges that Throttlefest breached the Agreement because it did not fulfill its duties during the Event, failed to name House of Blues as an Additional Insured, and engaged in prohibited alcohol sponsorships:

125. The Third-Party Defendants breached the Agreement by failing to include House of Blues as an Additional Insured on the insurance policies required under the Agreement;

126. Additionally, if Plaintiff's allegations are proven true, which is expressly denied by House of Blues, the Third-Party Defendants breached the Agreement by:

- a. Failing to use due care in providing the festival talent and personalities for the Throttle Fest;
- b. Engaging in prohibited alcoholic beverage sponsorship;

(See R. p. 208 ¶¶ 125-126). In other words, all of the alleged Throttlefest's alleged malfeasance occurred, if at all, on or before the date of the accident, which is well outside of the statutory period.

House of Blues either knew or should have known of Throttlefest's alleged breaches of the Agreement or other duties at or around the time of the Throttle Fest Event, which took place on its own premises. It is undisputed that Appellant House of Blues did not initiate its third-party claims until October 18, 2019, **more than five years** after the Event concluded. All of Throttlefest's alleged misconduct occurred in connection with the Event and/or on House of Blue's property. All such alleged misconduct occurred pursuant to a written agreement under which House of Blues agreed to "assume all responsibility for booking, promoting and producing the Event." (See R. p. 259 ¶ 2). House of Blues cannot possibly contend that it had no obligation to be aware of what its contractual partner was doing in connection with an Event of House of Blues' property that House of Blues had assumed sole responsibility for producing. There is no reasonable basis for House of Blues to claim that it engaged in sufficient diligence under the discovery rule, where it apparently stuck its head in the sand and failed to monitor its contract partner who was on its property. Accordingly (and based solely on the allegations of the Third-Party Complaint), the trial judge properly concluded that the three-year statute of limitations bars certain of House of Blues' third-party claims against Throttlefest.

In support of its invocation of the discovery rule, House of Blues asserts that "there is no evidence that Appellant had reason to believe that Throttlefest had done anything wrong prior to notice of the first-party claim from [Plaintiff]'s counsel after October 20, 2016." (See Appellant's Br., at 23). However, the plain allegations of the Third-Party Complaint focus entirely on conduct

on House of Blues' property and/or in breach of the Agreement for the Event. House of Blues cannot contend that it was not aware of what was occurring on its property pursuant to the Agreement during the Event.

Appellant House of Blues also argues that "the statute of limitations issue could not be resolved based solely on the pleadings, as the matter of when Appellant could and should have reasonably discovered Throttlefest's contractual breaches and tortious conduct was not apparent from the Complaint." (See Appellant's Br., at 14). Throttlefest is cognizant that "an affirmative defense ordinarily may not be asserted in a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) unless the allegations of the complaint demonstrate the existence of the affirmative defense." *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 123, 628 S.E.2d 869, 878 (2006); accord *Citizens & S. Nat. Bank of S.C. v. Constr. Enterprises, Inc. of TN*, 309 S.C. 500, 504, 424 S.E.2d 530, 532 (Ct. App. 1992) ("Because material issues of fact existed regarding Froehling & Robertson's time-limitation defenses, its motion for judgment on the pleadings based on these affirmative defenses should not have been granted."). However, the face of the Third-Party Complaint makes clear, beyond any doubt, that House of Blues' claims are time-barred.

**VI. The Trial Judge Correctly Dismissed Appellant House of Blues' Equitable and Tort Claims Because It May Only Sue Respondent Throttlefest in Contract (Appellant's Issue (IV)).**

The trial court also properly dismissed House of Blues' tort and equity (negligent misrepresentation, negligence and equitable indemnification) claims because the Agreement governs and controls the entire relationship between House of Blues and Throttlefest and sets forth all of the duties between the two of them.

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